RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT I

07-09-2014

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

Appeal No. 14 AP 1019

In re: the findings of contempt:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

STEPHANIE M. PRZYTARSKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDERS ENTERED ON MAY 7, 2013 AND
APRIL 17, 2014 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY,
BRANCH IV, THE HONORABLE MEL FLANAGAN PRESIDING.

Respectfully submitted,

STEPHANIE M. PRZYTARSKI,
Defendant-Appellant

JOHN HOLEVOET, SBN: 1074251
Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant
P.O. Box 367
Madison, WI 53701-0367
(608) 216-7000

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

SHOULD MS. PRZYTARSKI HAVE BEEN PERMITTED TO PRESENT EVIDENCE REGARDING A STATUTORILY PROVIDED AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE TO HER ORIGINAL CHARGE?

THE TRIAL COURT ANSWERED NO.

DID MS. PRZYTARSKI MAKE THE NECESSARY SHOWING IN HER POST-CONVICTION MOTION TO OBTAIN A MACHNER HEARING?

THE TRIAL COURT ANSWERED NO.

SHOULD MS. PRZYTARSKI BE PERMITTED TO WITHDRAW HER PLEA BECAUSE OF THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF HER TRIAL COUNSEL?

THE TRIAL COURT ANSWERED NO.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant recognizes that this appeal, as a one-judge appeal, does not qualify under this Court's operating procedures for publication. Hence, publication is not sought.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

This case stems from events that occurred around Christmas of 2012. R. 2. However, as one might expect with any case where the original charge is interfering with custody, the history between the parties is long and complicated. Mr. Ted Vallejos and Ms. Stephanie Przytarski have a daughter in common. Id. at 1. A family court order in Waukesha County case number 06PA390 permitted Mr. Vallejos to pick up his daughter for a holiday placement from noon on Christmas Day. Id. When his daughter was not at the predetermined meeting place, Mr. Vallejos contacted the police. Id. A charging conference was held in this matter on December 27, 2012 at the Milwaukee County District Attorney's Office. Id. at 2. Ms. Przytarski was arrested at the end of that conference. Id. The following day a criminal complaint was filed charging her with one count of interfering with custody. Id.

On December 29, 2012, Ms. Przytarski made her initial appearance. R. 31. At that time, she was released on bond. R. 3. One of the conditions of that bond was that she not have contact with her daughter. R. 4. Four days later, Ms. Przytarski filed a pro se motion to dismiss and vacate all orders. R. 5. Attached to that motion are several exhibits. R. 5. Exhibit C is a transcript of testimony from a hearing in the Waukesha County paternity case at which Dr. Charlene Kavanagh testified about diagnosing Ms. Przytarski's daughter with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Id. at 11-12. Dr. Kavanagh also opined that the child's PTSD

and other mental health concerns were caused in large part by visitations with Mr. Vallejos. Id. at 18. She explained that PTSD is associated with neurological damage. Id. at 16. At that same hearing, it was mentioned that Mr. Vallejos had been diagnosed with several personality disorders. Id. at 14-15. In her motion, Ms. Przytarski explained that she declined to follow the court's order for a holiday placement because she wanted to protect her daughter from potential physical harm. Id. at 1-2.

On January 8, 2013, Ms. Przytarski appeared for a preliminary hearing before Judge Mel Flanagan. R. 32. Judge Flanagan did not address Ms. Przytarski's motion nor did she actually preside over the preliminary hearing. Id. Instead, she indicated that she did not have time to handle a preliminary hearing and informed Ms. Przytarski that she would find another judge who could cover that hearing. Id. at 4. Later that same morning, Ms. Przytarski appeared before Judge Mary Triggiano for her preliminary hearing. R. 33. Judge Triggiano discussed with the defendant the possibility of waiving time so that she might hire an attorney to assist her. Id. at 4-5. Ms. Przytarski decided to continue pro se. Id. at 5. Her cross examination of the officer was cut off at noon to accommodate a lunch break, but she was asked to come back at 1:30 p.m. to continue with her questioning. Id. at 18. That afternoon, Judge Triggiano cut off testimony again and decided to adjourn the hearing to another date to give Ms. Przytarski the opportunity to obtain an attorney. Id. at 17. The State rested subsequent to that discussion, even though it was in no position to do so given that Ms. Przytarski

was cut off in the middle of her cross examination. *Id.* at 19. Ms. Przytarski did not waive time limits requiring that the preliminary hearing be concluded within 20 days of her initial appearance. R. 34.

A status conference was held in this case on February 1, 2013. R. 39. Prior to that hearing, Ms. Przytarski hired attorney Christopher Carson to represent her. He filed a motion to modify bond on January 18, 2013. R. 6. In that motion, he argued that the no-contact order preventing Ms. Przytarski from seeing her daughter should be lifted. *Id.* In part, he argued that the child was in danger and risked additional harm if left in her father's custody. *Id.* That motion was the primary topic of discussion at the status conference. R. 39. That hearing was often contentious, and it was clear that Judge Flanagan was frustrated with the tone of Attorney Carson's motion. *Id.* She characterized it as hyperbolic, accusatory, and inappropriate. *Id.* at 6 and 8. Attorney Carson made an oral motion for recusal after the Court denied the motion to modify bond. *Id.* at 38. That motion was also denied. *Id.* Attorney Carson later filed a written motion for recusal on February 19, 2013. R. 7.

The continuation of the preliminary hearing occurred on February 28, 2013, well beyond the statutory time limit for the hearing to be completed. R. 35. Attorney Carson did not raise that issue or request a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction. *Id.* He also does not assert Ms. Przytarski's right to continue her cross-examination of the state's only witness. *Id.* The majority of this hearing was actually spent discussing Attorney Carson's written motion for recusal, which was

denied, and the State's motion in limine to preclude Ms. Przytarski from raising an affirmative defense under Wisconsin Statutes section 948.31(4). Id.

In the State's motion in limine, it correctly argued that the affirmative defense provided by Wisconsin Statutes section 948.31(4)(a) does not include protecting a child from emotional harm. R. 8 at 1. On March 14, 2013, Attorney Carson filed a memorandum in opposition to the state's motion in limine. R. 10. In it, Attorney Carson clarified that the defense argument was that the child in this case engaged in self-harm as a result of placements she has had with Mr. Vallejos. R. 10 at 1. He argued that the statute providing for an affirmative defense does not specifically state that the physical harm must be at the hands of one of the parents involved in a custody dispute. Id.

The state's motion in limine and the defense's response to it were argued further at a pretrial conference on April 10, 2013. R. 36.¹ At that hearing, Attorney Carson explained that "the child engages in self harm immediately after her placements with the -- or visits with the father and immediately before." Id. at 11. Repeated head banging was among the behaviors observed. Id. He indicated that the defense intended to offer the testimony of one or two psychologists to show there was more than a casual nexus between the child's self-harming behaviors and her contact with Mr. Vallejos. The State also argued that Ms. Przytarski was collaterally estopped from raising this type of affirmative defense in her criminal

¹ It should be noted that in the interim, Attorney Carson filed a motion to reconsider the denial of his previous motions for recusal and bond modification. R. 11. Judge Flanagan issued a written order denying his request to lift the no-contact order between Ms. Przytarski and her daughter. R. 12. That order does not address the recusal issue. Id.

case because some of the same facts served as the basis for litigation in past family court actions. *Id.* at 13.

Judge Flanagan tentatively granted the State's motion to preclude affirmative defense evidence. *Id.* at 24. She indicated that the daughter hitting her head sounded like emotional harm, and that the cause of that harm was unknown. *Id.* at 22. Without a clearer connection between the girl's self-harming behaviors and Mr. Vallejos, the court questioned the relevance of any testimony about it. However, she did indicate that she would review supplemental reports that Attorney Carson referenced during his argument. *Id.* at 24. On April 16, 2013, Attorney Carson made a supplemental filing in opposition to the State's motion in limine. R. 13. In it, he made an offer of proof as to who will testify about Ms. Przytarski's child's self-harming behaviors and how this will support the conclusion that there is a connection between these behaviors and the daughter's visits with Mr. Vallejos. *Id.* at 2.

On May 2, 2013, just a short time prior to the scheduled trial dates, Judge Flanagan issued a written order regarding the admissibility of evidence pertaining to the Przytarski's affirmative defense. R. 15. In her findings of fact, Judge Flanagan incorrectly stated that "the affirmative defense offered by the defendant is based on her fear that the minor child may suffer emotional harm due to visits with her father." *Id.* at 4. She concludes that the threat of emotional harm is not a defense under Wisconsin Statutes section 948.31. *Id.* at 5. She also held that the proffered testimony regarding the affirmative defense was irrelevant or of such

limited probative value that the risk of prejudice or confusion of the issues weighs against its admission. *Id.* at 6. Finally, the Court concluded that testimony regarding the affirmative defense should be precluded because of the doctrine of collateral estoppel because some of these issues were previously discussed in family court proceedings. *Id.* at 6-7.

Faced with the prospect of not being able to present a defense just days prior her trial, Ms. Przytarski decided to enter a plea to a reduced misdemeanor count of contempt of court. R. 37 at 13. She made the decision to enter a guilty plea only after consulting with Attorney Carson. R. 47 at 1. During that discussion, Attorney Carson assured her that she would be able to appeal the Court's decision to preclude testimony regarding an affirmative defense. *Id.* Attorney Carson was well aware of her strong desire to appeal that decision. *Id.* Following a bifurcated sentencing hearing that spanned two days, the Court imposed, but stayed, a one-year jail sentence and placed Ms. Przytarski on two years of probation. R. 38 at 36. Attorney Carson did not object to this unlawfully long period of probation. R. 38.

Ms. Przytarski filed a timely notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief. R. 23. She then learned from appellate counsel that a direct appeal on the affirmative defense issue was not permitted because she had entered a plea. R. 47 at 2. She indicated that she would have never entered a plea if she had know that would have precluded her from appealing this issue. *Id.* She eventually filed a motion to withdraw her plea based upon ineffective assistance of counsel. R. 46.

The Circuit Court issued a written order denying Ms. Przytarski's post-conviction motion without a hearing. R. 48. The Court noted that Ms. Przytarski had waived the right to present defenses as part of the plea colloquy. *Id.* at 2. The Court reasoned that because, in its view, the proffered testimony was about emotional harm, Ms. Przytarski was not prejudiced by her inability to appeal. *Id.* at 4. The Court never contemplated the possibility that a higher court might view self-harm, including repeatedly hitting one's head against surfaces, as physical harm. *Id.* The Court did recognize, however, that the sentence imposed was illegal and reduced the term of probation to one year. *Id.* Upon receiving the written order denying her motion, Ms. Przytarski filed a notice of appeal. R. 50.

ARGUMENT

I. Ms. Przytarski should have been permitted to present evidence regarding a statutorily provided affirmative defense.

Ms. Przytarski was originally charged with one count of interference with custody, contrary to Wisconsin Statutes section 948.31(1)(b). Those charged with such an offense are afforded the right to several affirmative defenses. Wis. Stat. § 948.31(4)(a). One of those affirmative defenses says that a parent or person authorized by the parent may interfere with a custody order if that is done to protect the “child in a situation in which the parent or authorized person reasonably believe that there is a threat of physical harm.” Wis. Stat. § 948.31(4)(a)1. If a defendant raises this affirmative defense, he or she has the burden of proving the defense by the preponderance of the evidence. Wis. Stat. § 948.31(4)(b).

In this case, there is a repeated mischaracterization of the evidence that Ms. Przytarski wanted to offer regarding an affirmative defense by both the State and Circuit Court. Both the prosecutor and Judge Flanagan continually acted as though it was a forgone conclusion that the harm to Ms. Przytarski’s daughter was just emotional. Indeed, in her finding of facts regarding the State’s motion to exclude testimony regarding the affirmative defense, this is how Judge Flanagan refers to it. This is simply not accurate. While Ms. Przytarski’s daughter did show signs of emotional harm following her visits with Mr. Vallejos, the harm was clearly not limited to emotions. Hitting one’s head repeatedly against a surface will most

certainly cause physical harm. It is also clear that is what the evidence would have shown. Wisconsin Statutes section 948.31(4)(a)1 does not say a parent cannot interfere with a custody order if he or she is doing so because of a threat of physical *and* emotional harm. Indeed, it stands to reason that the threats a child might face would often include a combination of physical and emotional dangers.

This section also does not require that a parent seek to protect a child from physical harm at the hands of the other parent or guardian. The clear and plain meaning of the law is that a parent may interfere with a custody order when there is a threat of physical harm, regardless of who is causing that harm. For example, if a child was being abused (physically or sexually) by a stepparent or stepsibling, Wisconsin Statutes section 948.31(4)(a)1 would privilege another parent who chose to interfere with an otherwise valid custody order to prevent such abuse. There is no reason to conclude that this does not extend to cases involving self harm, even if the cause of that physical self harm is emotional distress.

The Circuit Court was very concerned with finding a nexus between the self-harm and the child's visits with Mr. Vallejos. In a situation such as this, it is a challenge to show the precise cause of self-harming behaviors. However, Ms. Przytarski was prepared to offer testimony to show that her daughter's behaviors coincided with visits with Mr. Vallejos and didn't occur at other times. She was also prepared to offer testimony from mental health professionals to try to establish such a nexus. Is it possible that she could have failed to convince a jury that she acted out concern for her daughter and because of a reasonable belief that

her daughter was in danger of physical harm? Yes, that is possible. However, this was a question for a jury, and the Circuit Court should not have substituted its own judgment for that of the jury. The statute establishes several clearly delineated affirmative defenses. Ms. Prytarski made a sufficient proffer regarding how she intended to prove her affirmative defense. The burden would have been hers. The Circuit Court should have afforded her the opportunity to meet that burden.

One of the arguments made by the Circuit Court against the affirmative defense evidence was relevance. However, when a showing had been made that an affirmative defense is a possibility, which was certainly the case here, testimony relating to that defense would clearly be relevant since it would tend to make the existence of a consequential fact (i.e. whether or not Ms. Przytarski's actions were privileged because of the statutorily-sanctioned affirmative defense) more probable. *See* Wis. Stat. § 904.01. Even relevant evidence can still be excluded "if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Wis. Stat. § 904.03. In this case, the entire trial would have boiled down to whether or not the affirmative defense applies. The presentation of the evidence proffered by Ms. Przytarski clearly does not prejudice her. It could be argued that it might prejudice Mr. Vallejos, but prejudice to him is of little concern since he is not on trial, nor a direct party to this case. This evidence would not have confused nor mislead the jury. Again, the argument would not have been that Ms. Przytarski did not

interfere with custody arrangements. She clearly did. The only question would have been was she permitted to do so because of the her belief that her daughter faced possible physical harm. This is a straightforward question. It might be possible that lengthy testimony about past relationship difficulties or dated psychological evaluations would have confused the issue or caused an undue delay. However, the solution for the Circuit Court would be to limit the evidence offered regarding the affirmative defense, not to exclude it entirely.

Perhaps the most bizarre argument made by the State is that Ms. Przytarski was precluded from offering an affirmative defense because of the doctrine of issue preclusion, formerly known as collateral estoppel. The idea being that because much of the testimony had been previously offered in the family law case regarding the paternity of Ms. Przytarski's daughter, she should not be able to rely on it in this case. It was repeatedly asserted that she was trying to relitigate issues from the family law case. The issues in the family law case were: 1) the paternity of the child, which had been established; and 2) the custody and support arrangements for the child. No decision in this case would in anyway impact past decisions on those two issues. Nor would Ms. Przytarski have wanted to do so; the family court has given her primary placement of her daughter.

The doctrine of issue preclusion holds that once a court has decided an issue of fact or law necessary to its judgment, that decision *may* preclude relitigation of that issue in another case involving at least one of the same parties.

Allen v. McCurry, 449 U.S. 90, 94 (1980); Aldrich v. LIRC, 2012 WI 53, ¶ 88,

341 Wis. 2d 36, 814 N.W.2d 433. The applicability of issue preclusion “is a mixed question of law and fact in which legal issues predominate.” Aldrich, 2012 WI 53, ¶ 91. “The first step in the analysis of issue preclusion is to ‘determine whether the issue or fact was actually litigated and determined in the prior proceeding by a valid judgment in a previous action and whether the determination was essential to the judgment.’” Id., ¶ 97. The second step in the analysis calls for the court to decide whether, given the particular circumstances of the second case, the application of issue preclusion would be consistent with fundamental fairness. Id., ¶ 98.²

In this case, given the differing nature of the cases and what was at stake for Ms. Przytarski (a criminal conviction and possible prison time), fundamental fairness would not have permitted the Circuit Court to apply issue preclusion in her criminal case. That said, the Circuit Court should not have even reached the question of fundamental fairness. That is because while some of the testimony that would have been offered by Ms. Przytarski was previously offered in the family court case, that has no bearing on the factual or legal findings in this case. The family court never determined if Mr. Vallejos was causing his daughter to engage

² In assessing fundamental fairness, the court may consider five factors: 1) Could the party against whom preclusion is sought have obtained review of the judgment as a matter of law; 2) Is the question one of law that involves two distinct claims or intervening contextual shifts in the law; 3) Do significant differences in the quality or extensiveness of proceedings between two courts warrant relitigation of the issue; 4) Have the burdens of persuasion shifted such that the party seeking preclusion had a lower burden of persuasion in the first trial than in the second; and 5) Are matters of public policy and individual circumstances involved that would render the application of issue preclusion to be fundamentally unfair, including inadequate opportunity or incentive to obtain a full and fair adjudication in the initial action? Aldrich, 2012 WI 53, ¶ 110.

in self harm. It never decided if Ms. Przytarski believed that was the case. It never examined whether such a belief was reasonable. Finally, it never looked at the question of whether such a belief could justify noncompliance with custody orders. None of the key factual or legal decisions necessary in this case had been previously decided. Issue preclusion does not prevent testimony from overlapping in multiple legally distinct cases. If a woman is raped by her husband and then sues for divorce, testimony regarding the sexual assault can and should be used in both the divorce proceedings and criminal case against the husband. Issue preclusion is meant to prevent the relitigation of the exact same dispute in different cases. That is not what was being attempted here, and this doctrine does not deserve a place in the discussion over whether or not to permit testimony regarding the affirmative defense allowed by Wisconsin Statutes section 948.31(4)(a)1.

II. Ms. Przytarski's made the necessary showing in her post-conviction motion to obtain a Machner Hearing.

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