#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

10-03-2014

## COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT I** 

Appeal Case No. 2014AP001019-CR

In re: the findings of contempt:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

STEPHANIE M. PRZYTARSKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM FINAL ORDERS ENTERED ON MAY 7, 2013, AND APRIL 17, 2014, IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MEL FLANAGAN, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

John T. Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Matthew J. Torbenson Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1049925 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PROHIBITED MS. PRZYTARSKI FROM ASSERTING AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE AT TRIAL WHEN THERE WAS NO SUPPORT FOR THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE IN FACT OR LAW

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's decision to prohibit a defendant from asserting an affirmative defense at trial is a question of law that requires *de novo* review. *State v. Nollie*, 249 Wis. 2d 538, 638 N.W.2d 280 (2002).

B. MS. PRZYTARSKI FAILED TO MAKE A SUFFICIENT OFFER OF PROOF FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO ALLOW MS. PRZYTARSKI TO PRESENT AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE AT TRIAL

A defendant is not entitled to present an affirmative defense when there is no evidence to support that defense. *State v. Dundon*, 226 Wis. 2d 654, 674-675, 594 N.W.2d 780 (1999). A defendant pursuing an affirmative defense at trial will often have to provide the circuit court with an offer of proof

demonstrating that evidence exists to support the proffered affirmative defense. *Dundon*, 226 Wis. 2d at 674.

When it is clear that a defendant's offer of proof fails to demonstrate that an affirmative defense is applicable, the trial court can exclude evidence relating to the affirmative defense. *Id.* 

In this case, Ms. Przytarski has attempted to invoke the statutory privilege to withhold S.V-K. from the father based on broad allegations that S.V-K. engaged in acts of self-harm surrounding past custody exchange dates. Ms. Przytarski's offer of proof failed to provide any casual nexus between any alleged conduct or behavior by Ted Vallejos and S.V-K.'s acts of self-harm.

To be clear, Ms. Przytarski has not alleged any behavior on the part of Ted Vallejos that jeopardized the health, safety, or welfare of S.V-K., other than Ted Vallejos exercising his custody and placement rights with S.V-K. Every act of alleged self-harm occurred while S.V-K. was in Ms. Przytarski's care.

Moreover, Ms. Przytarski failed to provide a shred of evidence connecting S.V-K.'s alleged acts of self-harm to conduct by Ted Vallejos. Ms. Przytarski relied on dated evaluations conducted for the family court that never assessed the genesis of S.V-K.'s alleged self-harming behavior.

Here, historical context is critical. This is a case in which the underlying family court has found that Ms. Przytarski is responsible for the issues that S.V-K. experienced surrounding custody exchanges given Ms. Przytarski's repeated history of thwarting placement with the father.(R15:3).

Given the contentious history between Ms. Przytarski and Ted Vallejos over the issue of legal custody and placement of S.V-K., the question posed to the court is whether Ms. Przytarski is entitled to an affirmative defense when the alleged acts of self-harm occur in Ms. Przytarski's care and the family court has found Ms. Przytarski responsible for creating S.V-K.'s issues surrounding custody and placement exchanges.

Under Wisconsin State Statute § 948.31(4)(a)1., a parent may take action to:

protect his or her child in a situation in which the parent reasonably believes that there is a threat of physical harm... to the child.

In this case Ted Vallejos presented no threat of physical harm to S.V-K. Sadly, what has created a situation leading to emotional harm to S.V-K. is the inability of both parents to work together for the betterment of S.V-K. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court so eloquently noted in *State v. McCoy*, 143 Wis. 2d 274, 295, 421 N.W.2d 107 (1988):

Children unfortunately are often the pawns in the domestic struggles between their parents. One parent may try in various ways to turn a child away from the other parent by ridicule or lies, hoping to deprive the mate, whom they now see as their enemy, of one of life's great treasures, the love and respect of one's own child. Of greater hurt is to be deprived of even the physical presence and company of one's child by the concealment of that child. In either of these situations the child is often bruised and torn mentally and emotionally by the struggle between the natural objects of the child's own affections, their mother and father.

If the court overturns the sound decision of the trial court and allows Ms. Przytarski to present an affirmative defense at trial when all of the alleged acts of the self-harm occur within Ms. Przytarski's care and Ms. Przytarski has failed to provide any causal nexus between the alleged acts of self-harm and conduct by Ted Vallejos, then the flood gates are opened to any parent in a legal custody dispute to create the very harm the parent would later rely on to deprive the other parent of custody and placement with the child. This is the very situation the Wisconsin Supreme Court cautioned against in *McCoy*.

Ms. Przytarski failed to provide the trial court with a sufficient offer of proof demonstrating a reasonable belief that placement with Ted Vallejos presented a threat of physical harm to S.V-K. The trial court was therefore well within its right to deny Ms. Przytarski from presenting an affirmative defense at trial based on *Dundon*.

## C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PREVENTED MS. PRZYTARSKI FROM ASSERTING AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE AT TRIAL WHEN THE ALLEGED HARM TO THE CHILD WAS EMOTIONAL HARM

In *McCoy*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court considered and rejected the argument that the term physical harm encompassed emotional harm. *State v. McCoy*, 143 Wis. 2d 274, 287-288, 294, 421 N.W.2d 107 (1988). In that case, the defendant was convicted at trial of concealing two of his children from the mother. *McCoy*, 143 Wis. 2d at 279-280. On appeal, the defendant asserted that the jury instruction employed by the trial court outlining the affirmative defense to interference with child custody was too narrow because the instruction did not allow a parent to interfere with the custodial rights of another parent in order to prevent emotional harm to a child. *Id.* at 294.

In reaching its decision rejecting the defendant's assertion, the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized that emotional harm to a child all too often is the result when one parent works to demean the other parent before the child's eyes. *Id.* at 295.

In this case, the State does not dispute that S.V-K. suffered from post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of the inability of the parents to put S.V-K. first. However, the assertion that S.V-K.'s post-traumatic stress disorder manifest into self-harming conduct while in Ms. Przytarski's care does not alter the nature of the harm, nor render the harm solely attributable to the father.

Any alleged self-harming behavior exhibited by S.V-K. was a manifestation of the emotional harm S.V-K. endured as a result of a contentious and ongoing custody dispute. This harm, emotional harm, was precisely the harm the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized and rejected as cause for one parent to interfere with the custodial rights of another parent.

Ms. Przytarski cannot identify a reasonable threat of physical harm posed by Ted Vallejos to S.V-K. Instead, Ms. Przytarski has attempted to couch S.V-K.'s diagnosed emotional harm as physical harm. The court should follow the

sound logic of the Wisconsin Supreme Court and reject Ms. Przytarski's attempt to recast S.V-K.'s emotional harm into physical harm.

# II. MS. PRZYTARSKI WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A MACHNER HEARING WHEN THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT MS. PRZYTARSKI COULD NOT MEET THE PREJUDICE PRONG OF THE STRICKLAND TEST

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to counsel, which includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. *State v. Trawitzki*, 244 Wis. 2d 523, 547-548, 628 N.W.2d 801 (2001). A defendant who asserts a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel must prove: (a) that trial counsel's performance was deficient; and (b) that the deficient performance of trial counsel prejudiced the defendant. *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 126-127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990).

A court may deny a defendant's post-conviction motion without a *Machner* hearing if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief. *State v. Curtis*, 218 Wis. 2d 550, 555, 582 N.W.2d 409 (Ct. App. 1998).

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A finding of prejudice requires the court to conclude that but for trial counsel's deficient performance there is a reasonable probability that the outcome at trial would have been different. *State v. Williams*, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 848, 723 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App. 2006). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Id.* 

#### B. MS. PRZYTARSKI WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY THE PERFORMANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL

Ms. Przytarski asserts that her decision to plead guilty to an amended charge in this matter was based on incorrect legal advice from trial counsel that Ms. Przytarski would still be able to appeal the trial court's decision prohibiting Ms. Przytarski from asserting an affirmative defense at trial.

As the trial court noted in its decision, Ms. Przytarski acknowledged both within her plea colloquy and within the plea questionnaire waiver form, that by pleading guilty Ms. Przytarski was giving up her right to a jury trial and the right to present a defense. (R48: 2; R37:9, R18:3).

Even if one presumes that trial counsel provided Ms. Przytarski with incorrect legal advice, it does not change the fact that Ms. Przytarski was not entitled to present an affirmative defense at trial based on emotional harm to S.V-K. Without the ability to present an affirmative defense at trial, Ms. Przytarski had no defense to the charged crime.

Additionally, even if Ms. Przytarski was entitled to present an affirmative defense based on emotional harm, the trial court concluded that Ms. Przytarski's offer of proof was insufficient to establish a causal connection between the emotional harm to S.V-K. and placement of S.V-K. with Ted Vallejos. (R15:5-6; R36:11, 20-23).

Thus, Ms. Przytarski cannot establish a reasonable probability that, but for trial counsel's performance, the outcome would have been different. Ms. Przytarski has no ability to present an affirmative defense under Wisconsin law. Had the matter proceeded to trial without the ability for Ms. Przytarski to present an affirmative defense, Ms. Przytarski would in all likelihood stand convicted of a felony offense.

Ms. Przytarski asks the court to consider the motion to withdraw a plea in a vacuum, without assessing Ms. Przytarski's likelihood of success on the merits of her appeal. However, Ms. Przytarski's insufficient offer of proof combined with the fact that Wisconsin law prohibits a parent from arguing emotional harm as a defense to a parent withholding a child in violation of a family court order demonstrates that Ms. Przytarski is not likely to prevail on the merits of her appeal.

## III. MS. PRZYTARSKI CANNOT ESTABLISH A MANIFEST INJUSTICE IN THIS CASE

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A defendant who seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing must establish by clear and convincing evidence that the trial court should permit the defendant to withdraw her plea to correct a "manifest injustice." *State v. Booth*, 142 Wis. 2d 232, 235, 237, 418 N.W.2d 20, 21, 22 (Ct. App. 1987). The "manifest injustice" test is met if a defendant was denied the effective assistance of counsel. *State v. Rock*, 92 Wis. 2d 554, 558-559, 285 N.W.2d 739 (1979).

## B. MS. PRZYTARSKI WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY TRIAL COUNSEL'S ALLEGED ERRONEOUS ADVICE

Even if one presumes for arguments sake that trial counsel provided erroneous advice to Ms. Przytarski regarding Ms. Przytarski's ability to appeal the trial court's ruling prohibiting an affirmative defense post entry of a guilty plea, Ms. Przytarski cannot demonstrate prejudice in this case.

Ms. Przytarski asserts that had she known that a guilty plea would have prohibited an appeal of the trial court's ruling, Ms. Przytarski never would have entered a plea.

In an analogous case, *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 306-307, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996), the defendant filed a motion for post-conviction relief contending that trial counsel erroneously advised the defendant of an incorrect minimum parole eligibility date. The defendant's motion for post-conviction relief asserted that had the defendant been properly informed of the correct minimum parole eligibility date, the defendant would not have entered guilty pleas. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 316.

In *Bentley*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that "[a] 'bare-bones allegation' that a defendant would have pled differently 'is no more than a conclusory allegation' and ... not sufficient to require the trial court to direct that an evidentiary hearing be conducted." *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 316 (*quoting* 

Smith v. State, 60 Wis. 2d 373, 380, 210 N.W.2d 678 (1973)). In that case, the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that the defendant failed to provide any factually specific circumstances as to why the defendant placed a special emphasis on the parole eligibility date when making the decision to enter guilty pleas. *Id.* at 317.

Like the facts in *Bentley*, in this case Ms. Przytarski makes a bare-bones assertion that had Ms. Przytarski known that entering a guilty plea foreclosed Ms. Przytarski's right to appeal the trial court's ruling on the ability to present an affirmative defense, Ms. Przytarski never would have entered a plea.

However, a review of the plea and sentencing transcripts demonstrates that Ms. Przytarski made the strategic decision to enter a guilty plea hoping the trial court would change its position on the no contact order between Ms. Przytarski and S.V-K. (R37:7,14-21).

Ms. Przytarski further acknowledged within the plea colloquy that by entering a plea, Ms. Przytarski was giving up her right to pursue a defense to the charged conduct. (R:37:9).

Moreover, Ms. Przytarski's signature on the plea questionnaire form demonstrates Ms. Przytarski's acknowledgement that by pleading guilty, Ms. Przytarski was giving up any defense to the charged conduct.

Finally, Ms. Przytarski, through trial counsel, acknowledged that absent the ability to present an affirmative defense, Ms. Przytarski had no defense to the charged conduct at trial. (R36:30).

Here, once again, Ms. Przytarski seeks the court to examine the issue of prejudice with blinders on towards Ms. Przytarski's likelihood of success on the merits of Ms. Przytarski's purported affirmative defense. The fact is that Ms. Przytarski was not entitled to an affirmative defense at trial because Ms. Przytarski did not provide a sufficient offer of proof for the affirmative defense and failed to establish a threat of physical harm to S.V-K. that was directly attributable to Ted Vallejos. Ms. Przytarski's motion should therefore be denied.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The court should deny Ms. Przytarski's appeal in this matter and uphold the sound decisions of the trial court. Ms. Przytarski failed to provide the trial court with a sufficient offer of proof allowing Ms. Przytarski to present an affirmative defense at trial.

Additionally, Ms. Przytarski is not entitled to an affirmative defense under Wisconsin law when the alleged harm to S.V-K. was emotional harm.

Finally, Ms. Przytarski was not prejudiced by trial counsel's representation since Ms. Przytarski was not entitled to present an affirmative defense at trial. For all of these reasons, Ms. Przytarski's appeal should be denied by the Court.